**RECEIVED**

**Apr 19 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

The State of South Carolina  
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County Court of Common Pleas  
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-001291

---

**Julie Irving,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**Jeanne Poafpybitty, Donald Matthew Rothgeb,  
and Steven Taylor Rothgeb,**

**Defendants,**

**Of whom Jeanne Poafpybitty, Personal Representative of the Estate of  
Donald M. Rothgeb is the Appellant.**

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

Reese R. Boyd, III  
Bret H. Davis  
**Davis & Boyd LLC**  
1110 London Street, Suite 201  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  
*Phone:* (843) 839-9800  
*Fax:* (843) 839-9801

## INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from the Horry County Probate Court concerning the estate of Donald M. Rothgeb who died in January of 2014. Donald Rothgeb's Last Will and Testament named his wife, Jeanne Poafpybitty (the Appellant), as his Personal Representative, and also named her as one of four equal beneficiaries, along with Donald's three adult children from a prior relationship (i.e., Jeanne's step-children), who are named Donald Matthew Rothgeb, Steven Rothgeb, and Julie Irving (of which Irving is the Respondent). Donald's Will instructs that Jeanne, as personal representative is to distribute the estate's property in her "sole discretion" so that the result is "approximately equal." (See Defendant's Trial Exhibit "5" at page 2, Item IV of the Decedent's Will.)

In 2016 Irving brought this action against her step-mother which is styled as a "Complaint to Secure Fair and Prompt Closure of Estate Administration." In it, Irving claims that "what stands in the way of a timely Estate closure are only the personal differences between Jeanne" and her step-children. While personality was certainly a complicating factor in this matter, the dispute is largely over the means by which Jeanne was permitted to distribute the Estate's assets, which were mostly real estate. Specifically, the point of contention was whether the real property should be divided among the individual defendants (the approach pursued by the Personal Representative), or deeded to them jointly (the result ordered by the Probate Court). This was significant, considering that the estate owned more than a dozen parcels of

real property, including the home Jeanne had shared with her husband for more than twenty years.

Although the plain language of the Will left the distribution of this property to Jeanne's "sole discretion," Irving alleged that Jeanne was not entitled to any discretion because Jeanne was also a beneficiary, which could create conflict. As a result, Irving argued Jeanne was required to simply deed out the property jointly. (Trial Transcript pp. 219, 220, 238). Ultimately the personality differences seemed to cloud the issues, manifesting in a voluminous and confusing final order that never analyzes or even mentions the disputed portion of the Will. Instead, citing to the interpersonal discord among the parties, their counsel, and things as innocuous as discovery objections, the Probate Court concluded that Jeanne violated her duties to the Estate by defending Irving's lawsuit. (Order March 2, 2018 pp. 2, 31, 37, 38). Among other errors, the Probate Court found Jeanne breached the fiduciary duties that a trustee owes to a trust under the South Carolina Trust Code—a portion of the statute which specifically provides "this article does not apply to . . . the administration of decedent's estates." S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-102. Without ever finding Jeanne's conduct exceeded the broad discretion provided in the Will, the Probate Court fundamentally re-wrote the decedent's Will, without a legally sound basis for doing so.

Based on her purported breaches, the Probate Court ordered that Jeanne be removed as the personal representative of the Estate—relief that was never requested by Irving. To support this *sua sponte* relief, the Court makes the assertion that it "retains . . . authority to review a personal representative's actions, and if necessary, take

corrective action, for the protection of the Estate and the interested persons.” (Order p. 37) (referenced this as one of seven guiding legal principles important to this case). However, the court provides no authority for this proposition, which appears to have been cut from whole cloth. While the Probate Code does afford a procedure (and standards) for a party to petition for the removal of a personal representative at Section 62-3-611, this Section is never mentioned in Irving’s complaint, nor is it discussed in the Probate Court’s Order.

The underlying purposes of the S.C. Probate Code include (1) to discover and make effective the intent of a decedent in the distribution of property and (2) to promote a speedy and efficient system for liquidating the Estate of the decedent and making distributions to his successors. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-102(b)(1) and (b)(2) (Thomson Supp. 2020). It is well settled that removal of a personal representative is itself a usurping of the decedent’s intent and therefore “[t]he power to remove a personal representative should be exercised with great caution, and not at all, unless it is made to appear to be necessary for the protection of the estate, to prevent loss or injury to it from misappropriation, maladministration or fraud.” Church v. McGee, 391 S.C. 334, 344, 705 S.E.2d 481, 486 (Ct. App. 2011).

In this case, there simply can be no basis for the removal of Jeanne as Personal Representative, or the exceptionally punitive consequences that accompany that removal, without the necessary requisite finding that she acted outside the scope of the authority Donald intended her to have, or without proper notice of the filing of a petition for her removal, as required by S.C. Code Ann. 62-3-611.

It is well-settled in South Carolina that the “mere existence of conflict between a personal representative and a beneficiary is an inadequate reason for removal of the personal representative. Without a showing of fault, the court will not remove a personal representative simply because the parties do not get along.” Blackmon v. Weaver, 366 S.C. 245, 251-52, 621 S.E.2d 42, 45 (Ct. App. 2005). If the Probate Court’s Order is permitted to stand, it will upend this long-settled standard of probate administration in South Carolina. Therefore, at the very least, this matter must be reversed and remanded to the Probate Court for determination of what Donald intended the scope of Jeanne’s discretion to be, and whether there has been an actual violation of that discretion that would warrant her removal as Personal Representative, among the other punitive sanctions that the Probate Court ordered against Jeanne.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Probate Court commit reversible error by failing to follow the Testator's Intent as set forth in his Last Will, and in finding Jeanne breached her duties owed to the estate without first making any finding that her conduct was inconsistent with the discretion Donald intended her to have by drafting a will that provided her with the "sole discretion" to distribute the property?
- II. Did the Circuit Court commit reversible error by upholding a Probate Court Order that contravenes the S.C. Supreme Court's ruling in the case of *Sullivan v. Brown and Moses (In re Estate of Kay)*, 423 S.C. 476 (2018), which case is directly on point as to the facts of this case, and dispositive of the matters raised in this Appeal?
- III. Did the Probate Court commit reversible error by incorrectly applying standards from the S.C. Trust Code on the Personal Representative, which explicitly by their terms do not apply to the Administration of Estates?
- IV. Was it reversible error for the Probate and Circuit Court to award the Plaintiff legal fees from the Estate's funds under the "Common Fund" doctrine, when the result of the Plaintiff's action did not benefit all Estate beneficiaries, and the various Beneficiaries were adverse to one another?
- V. Was it reversible error for the Probate Court and Circuit Court to remove the Personal Representative and appoint a Special Administrator, when no application by an interested person was made, no evidence was presented to support removal, and the appointment was not requested at trial?
- VI. Was it reversible error for the Probate Court and the Circuit Court to hold the Personal Representative responsible for the legal fees for the defense of this action, and other of the Estate's legal fees, without a finding of Bad Faith as required by Section 62-3-720 of the S.C. Probate Code?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises from the administration of the Estate of Donald M. Rothgeb (the "Decedent"), who died in January 2014, in Horry County. He was survived by his wife of 35 years, Jeanne Poafpybitty, whom he named as his Personal Representative in his Last Will and Testament, and three children from a previous marriage: Julie Irving, Matthew Rothgeb, and Steven Rothgeb. In this appeal, the Decedent's wife Jeanne is the Appellant, and Julie Irving is the Respondent.

### *Factual Background*

Decedent's Will named Jeanne Poafpybitty as his Personal Representative (herein, "PR"), and she was appointed as such by the Probate Court on March 7, 2014. The Will further provided that Jeanne Poafpybitty and the three children would each receive an equal 25% (one-quarter) interest in the Decedent's Estate.

Once appointed, Jeanne Poafpybitty set about attempting to administer her husband's Estate as the terms of his Last Will and Testament directed. Among other things, the Last Will and Testament delegated to the Personal Representative the power to determine the specific distribution of Estate assets to the four beneficiaries, so long as the results were "approximately equal." (Defendant's Trial Ex. "5" at page 2, Item IV of the Decedent's Will.)

The estate consisted primarily of real property. This included the marital home Decedent shared with Jeanne for more than thirty-five years, as well as several rental properties. However, most, if not all, of the properties had been neglected by the Decedent during the last years of his life and were in need of substantial repairs at the

time of Decedent's passing. (Trial Transcript pp. 459, 460.) As a result, Jeanne had to determine the most equitable means of accommodating each beneficiary and was attempting to sell as many of the properties as she could to pay off existing mortgages, and also to make it easier to divide the estate assets among the beneficiaries. (Trial Transcript pp. 74, 243, 255, 264, 267, 443, 457, 459, 473, 474, 482, 503, 504, and 505) (Defendant's Trial Ex. "5", at page 1, Item I of the Decedent's Will, also required the Personal Representative to pay off the mortgages).

Roughly a year after Decedent's death, Jeanne—as the PR—and the three children reached what the PR understood to be an understanding for the division of properties within the Estate. (Plaintiff's Trial Ex. "25", Trial Transcript pp. 60, 114, 115, 176, 348-349, Plaintiff's Trial Ex. "3"). It was agreed that the properties would be appraised by a jointly selected appraiser. (Trial Transcript pp. 60, 64, 122, 140, 142, 291, 340, Plaintiff's Trial Ex. "3"). The PR negotiated with Irving's counsel in an effort to reach an agreed-upon distribution of Estate properties, even though the Last Will and Testament gave the Personal Representative the authority to make that determination.

Unfortunately, just before Jeanne could distribute out the properties and close this Estate, Julie Irving withdrew her consent and brought a petition in the Horry County Probate captioned "Complaint to Secure Fair and Prompt Closure of Estate Administration" (the "Irving Petition"), which was filed April 25, 2016. This appeal arises from the rulings of the Probate Court on the Irving Petition.

The Irving Petition alleged, among other things, that there was "no good reason for the Estate to remain open." The Irving complaint requested, *inter alia*, an updated

estate accounting, interim financial distributions, and distribution of all remaining real estate assets in the Estate as in-kind distributions, in equal one-quarter shares to the Estate's four beneficiaries. The Irving Petition did not seek removal of the Personal Representative, nor did it allege that she had acted in bad faith. (Complaint Irving v. Poafpybitty, Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald Rothgeb, et al., Horry County Probate Court, Case No.: 2014-ES-26-00498)

### *The Trial*

The matter came to trial before the Probate Court on February 17 and 24, 2017. At trial Jeanne testified that she understood her legal right to claim a 1/3 "elective share" interest in the Estate, instead of one-quarter (1/4) share she received under the Decedent's Will. (Trial Transcript pp. 321, 454, Defendant's Trial Ex. "5", p. 2, Item III.B, and Item IV of the Decedent's Will). However, in order to maintain harmony in the family and to honor what she understood the Decedent wanted; she chose not to claim an elective share. (Trial Transcript pp. 321, 454). These facts refute Irving's basic contention, which was that Jeanne used her role as Personal Representative to improve her interest in the Estate at the expense of the Estate's other beneficiaries.

Contrary to the plain instruction of the Decedent's Last Will and Testament, Irving insisted that all properties be deeded equally to all four of the Estate's beneficiaries. (Trial Transcript pp. 219-220, 238-239, Defendant's Trial Ex. "5", p. 2, Item IV of Decedent's Last Will and Testament) (stating that the PR had the "sole discretion" to determine the distribution of Estate properties, so long as the results were "approximately equal"). To explain this inconsistency, at trial Irving testified that she

believed that such division would allow her to gain control of the Estate assets. (Trial Transcript pp. 372, 373, 525). Not only was Irving's contention inconsistent with the plain language of Decedent's Will, but it would also force Jeanne to own the marital residence with three other beneficiaries, one of whom—Matthew Rothgeb—was known to have a substantial drug problem and extensive criminal record. (Trial Transcript pp. 251-252, 439-441).

*Probate Court's Order*

On May 26, 2017, the Probate Court sent the parties an e-mail indicating its intent to rule grant the relief Irving requested in her Petition:

Counsellors [sic] – The task you assigned me in the above case has been a difficult and exhaustive one. In order to be certain about my decision, I wanted to review all evidence/documents submitted at trial and review my extensive notes over the several days of trial. I appreciate your patience in this matter. I will ask Mr. Tall to prepare me an Order consistent with this Email. It is clear to me that the deceased loved all 4 parties deeply. His clear intention was to treat all equally. Though he gave his wife as Personal Representative certain latitude with the division of his assets. That privilege is not absolute where the Court determines an abuse or obstruction to the Deceased's intent has occurred. See §62-2-601, et seq. I find in this case the P/R-wife has intentionally inhibited and delayed the closing of this estate and prolonged the division of the assets. Though this estate is substantial (over one million dollars), the Court finds it could and should have been settled much earlier. The Court finds the P/R to have withheld information pertinent to the beneficiaries and requested by them. In addition the P/R clearly used her position as P/R to manipulate at least one if not more assets to her advantage over her step children [sic], the remaining 75% devisees. Information had been requested by Julia K. Irving and others. What was provided was incomplete and/or confusing before retention and after retention of counsel. As a result of her actions as P/R, I find her P/R commissions should be reduced to a total of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000). The balance of the fee as shown in the latest accounting filed with the Court should be paid directly to the other 3 devisees equally share and share alike. This is to be above and beyond their 25% share as a devisee. I was not impressed with the sincerity nor credibility of the testimony of the

P/R. Based on all the evidence and testimony, the Court finds the P/R wife and 25% beneficiary used her position to manipulate the estate assets to unjustly enrich herself at the expense of the other beneficiaries. Under the authority of §62-1-111, §62-3-701, et seq., 719, 720, 721, and others, I find that this litigation was not beneficial for the estate but, purely the wife-beneficiary seeking to improve her lot in the estate. The wife was not prosecuting nor defending an action for or against the estate. I find she was not acting reasonably for the benefit of all the devisees of the estate. §62-3-715(20). As such the Court finds all attorney fees incurred after the May 25th, 2016 [sic] up to the execution of this Order shall be paid by the wife, Jeanne Poafpybitty, personally and shall not be charged against nor paid by the estate. Also all fees and costs incurred by the Petitioner, Julie K. Irving, shall be paid by the estate. Said bill and expenses shall be filed with this Order if not filed already. See appropriate Probate Court sections and IN THE MATTER of the Estate of Marion M. Kay (Edward D. Sullivan -v- Martha Brown et al.) Opinion # 5414 filed 6/15/16 and refiled 11/2/2016. There was raised an issue about rental to be paid by wife-P/R to the estate. I find no reimbursement is appropriate and, therefore, deny any adjustment or repayment from the P/R-wife. I find all remaining property both real and personal and deeds required shall be issued in the names of all 4 beneficiaries equally. I find and so order that the P/R and her counsel shall file amended closing documents with the Court within 30 days of the service of this Order on Counsel for the P/R. The counsel for the P/R shall be allowed reasonable compensation for such services which shall obviously be shown on the final accounting etc. All other matters if any are denied. Mr. Tall please prepare me an Order citing the appropriate testimony, evidence, code sections, and case law. All attorney fees previously submitted by both parties are approved subject to the above indicating whom or what entity is to make payment.

Respectfully,

Carroll D. Padgett, Jr.  
Chief Associate Probate Judge

(Email from Judge Padgett to Counsel, May 26, 2017). The Court's e-mail ruling directed counsel for Irving to prepare a proposed order accordingly. Over five months later, Irving's counsel submitted a proposed order that expanded the probate court's one-paragraph e-mail into a rambling 45-page document that included all the relief granted at trial and specified in the Court's e-mail of May 26, but that also included

relief that Irving never requested on issues that she never raised, and which were never argued or discussed at trial. This included the removal of Jeanne Poafpybitty as Personal Representative, and the appointment of a Special Administrator. [Order March 2, 2018 pp. 44, 45]. This additional relief was included by Irving's counsel, even though the e-mail ruling of May 26, 2017, specifically stated that, "[a]ll other matters, if any are denied." Id. The Probate Court nonetheless issued its Order on March 2, 2018 that adopted language submitted by Irving's counsel without any substantive changes from the document proposed by Irving's counsel. (Letter from Reese R. Boyd, III to Judge Padgett, November 9, 2017).

Significantly, the Probate Court's Order of March 2, 2018 is a lengthy, rambling and confusing document that relied in its "Argument" section on seven guiding legal principles. Of these seven principles, however, two of them - Nos. 2 and 4 - apply to trusts and not to estates, and were found by the Circuit Court to be inapplicable. (Order March 2, 2018 p. 35, Order September 16, 2020 p. 17, 18). One of the seven principles, No. 3, has subsequently been reversed by the S.C. Supreme Court in the Estate of Kay case, discussed herein below. (Order March 2, 2018 p. 35). One of the seven principles, No. 5 on page 36 of the Order, doesn't exist, and another of the seven principles - *see* No. 7 on page 36 of the Order - is a proposition consisting of case law, such as the Blackmon v. Weaver and Church v. McGee cases, which actually support the arguments advanced by the Appellant Personal Representative in this case.

The Probate Court's Order virtually eliminated the Personal Representative's commission, required the Personal Representative to personally pay all of the Estate's

attorneys' fees incurred after the Probate Court's e-mail ruling of May 25, 2016, required the Estate to pay Irving's attorneys' fees and costs, ordered the real estate assets of the Estate be divided in equal one-quarter shares as tenants in common and transferred to the beneficiaries in-kind. (Order March 2, 2018 pp. 43, 44). It ordered the Estate to immediately file closing documents, and as noted above, it removed Jeanne Poafpybitty as the Personal Representative and ordered the appointment of a Special Administrator. (Order March 2, 2018 p. 44).

*The Personal Representative's Rule 59 Motions for Reconsideration*

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