RECEIVED

Oct 13 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001291

Julie Irving,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

Jeanne Poafpybitty, Donald Matthew Rothgeb and Steven Taylor Rothgeb,

Defendants,

of whom Jeanne Poafpybitty, Personal Representative
of the Estate of Donald M. Rothgeb is

Defendant/Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Clifford H. Tall, P.A.
Clifford H. Tall, Esq.
SC Bar No.: 5463
4702 Oleander Drive
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
(843) 497-9777
ctallpa@sc.rr.com
Counsel for Respondent, Julie Irving

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

ARGUMENT

1. IN EVALUATING APPELLANT'S MOST RECENT PLEADINGS, THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD CONSIDER WHAT HAS ALREADY BECOME THE LAW OF THE CASE.

Appellate practice recognizes a concept known as "Law of the Case." Essentially, a lower Court ruling, which is not challenged by an Appellant, requires affirmance by the Appellate Court. D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Westcott Land Company, LLC, 410 S.C. 319, 764 S.E. 2d 701 (2014) and Price v. Peachtree Electrical Services, Inc., 405 S.C. 455, 748 S.E. 2d 229 (2013).

Following are a listing of lower Court rulings, in this matter, which Appellant has not challenged on appeal. Respondent asserts that affirmation of the following will have a great deal to do with how Appellant's continuing prayers should be addressed:

1. Steven Rothgeb forwarded to Appellant a cordial and polite 2015 inquiry, about Estate financial matters, (R. p. 18, Lines 1-6) (R. p. 1309, Lines 16-37) (R. p. 1310, Lines 1-21) which Appellant should have been prepared to address. (R. p. 18, Lines 8-10) Appellant's October 2016 sworn affidavit about what occurred with the family "exactly one year" after Dr. Rothgeb's death (January 26, 2015) was not an accurate report of events. (R. p. 1314, Lines 18-22)

2. Dr. Rothgeb's Will, at Item I, (R. p. 1165, Lines 15-18) permits real properties of the Estate to be distributed, with the distributee taking title, subject to any outstanding mortgage debt. This is an opportunity, available to the Estate, as alternative to the time consuming and expensive action of selling real properties, and using sale proceeds to extinguish the Estate's mortgage debt. Payoff of the Estate's mortgage debt was not required, as a condition for Estate closure.

3. Two 2015 letters from stepchildren's counsel, Jack Scoville, the only record

contributions from Attorney Scoville, provided no details of any agreement between the Personal Representative and other Estate heirs. (R. p. 27, Lines 4-15) (R. p. 28, Lines 1-5) Heresay testimony and argument, from Estate counsel, (R. p. 99, Lines 3-21) was insufficient to give evidence of any such agreement. Mr. Scoville was not invited to give testimony, and nothing else in the Court record establishes any agreement. The trial Court found unjustified hostility from the Estate to Respondent, Julie Irving, (R. p. 27, Lines 4-15) (R. p. 28, Line 1-5) because of the Estate's mistaken allegation that a binding agreement had not been honored by Respondent.

4. Appellant's continuing complaints, about Respondent withdrawing her consent to an Estate settlement agreement, apparently moves forward in argument before this Honorable Court, without Appellant ever addressing how the Trial Court found failure of Appellant, to establish the existence of any such Estate settlement agreement. (R. p. 99, Lines 9-21)

5. The expenditure of more than \$20,000.00 by the Estate, and its Personal Representative, to rehabilitate a once disrepaired Estate residence, created additional value which belonged to the whole Estate, and not to just one Estate beneficiary. (R. p. 65, Lines 3-5) This additional value, in fairness to all beneficiaries, had to be recognized as part of Estate settlement and final distributions.

6. Just prior to trial, Appellant informed the Court that resolution of the parties' dispute would include expert testimony from appraisers hired by the Estate and Respondent, (R. p. 1801, Lines 25-27) however, during trial of the case, it was revealed that Appellant's appraiser was never hired to give his opinion about value of the repaired residence, (R. p. 346, Lines 5-23) which was central to the parties' dispute.

7. The Trial Court found it to be not reasonable and not credible, (R. p. 70, Lines 12-23) (R. p. 71, Lines 1-4) when the Estate explained how it sought cost savings by not hiring its appraiser to give opinion about the value of a repaired residence, (R. p. 954, Lines 5-9) which was central to the parties' dispute. The appraiser was, nonetheless, hired to inspect the repaired residence, (R. p. 10, Lines 17-19) and he was, nonetheless, hired to appear, as expert witness, during the trial. According to the Trial Court, the absence of an opinion from Appellant's expert, on the value of a repaired residence, was due to the expert being unwilling or unable to support the valuation contained in Appellant's fiduciary filings. (R. p. 70, Lines 21-23)

8. Appellant abandoned her fiduciary asset valuation responsibilities, when in February 2017, she filed an accounting, under oath, placing a value on an Estate residence, when, at the time, Appellant believed that the sworn to residence value was not accurate. (R. p. 65, Lines 5-17) Appellant offers, as excuse, that she was trying to accommodate disagreeable beneficiaries. (R. p. 500, Lines 2-16) Whatever her motivation, however, Appellant is responsible for a false swearing with Court filed accountings.

9. Appellant's counterclaims against Respondent were determined by the Trial Court to be a waste of fiduciary authority. (R. p. 51, Lines 13-14)

10. It was a breach of fiduciary duty for Appellant, the Personal Representative, to continue referencing the disrepaired value of an Estate residence, while making calculations for her acquisition of the same residence, after it was transformed into a rehabilitated state. (R. p. 34, Lines 4-13) The rehabilitation had been accomplished, under Appellant's direction, with the use of more than \$20,000.00 in Estate funds.

11. The Trial Court exercised proper discretion, under S.C. Ann. §62-1-111 (Supp.

2013), to award costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, as was included in its Orders. (R. p. 97, Lines 21-23) Appellant has not challenged the application of §62-1-111 in this matter.

12. Following issuance of the Trial Court's May 2017 email message, describing its ruling, a two month delay in proceedings occurred, due to the request of Appellant's counsel, associated with further matters counsel wished to present. (R. pp. 1871-1873, all lines)

13. Appellant has largely left unchallenged, the Trial Court's description, on pages 8-14 of its November 7, 2018 Order, as to why the Court considered Appellant's defenses, in this matter, to be outside the reimbursement qualifications of S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-720 (Supp. 2013), following proceedings for review, according to S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-721 (Supp. 2013).

14. The Appellant's early administration decision, not to litigate for a marital elective share of Dr. Rothgeb's Estate, does not foreclose an examination of Appellant's other decisions, to determine whether Appellant used fiduciary powers for wrongful purposes. (R. p. 99, Lines 9-21)

15. The Probate Court reached its final decisions in this matter, recognizing that Respondent Matthew Rothgeb never appeared at Trial to support 2016 affidavit allegation that Appellant had been untruthful with him. (R. p. 54, Lines 9-12) Mr. Rothgeb had submitted an affidavit, claiming that Appellant had been untruthful. Appellant appeared, in May 2016, at Motions Hearing, and had filed no responsive affidavit or other pleadings denying Matthew's allegations. In its Order of March 2, 2018, the Trial Judge included his position that the contents of Matthew Rothgeb's 2016 affidavit, were unsupported by any trial testimony from him.

16. In her April 19, 2021 brief, Appellant repeats her prior concerns about a Court Order for Special Administrator. This she does, however, without challenging the Circuit Court

Order which finds transcript record and Appellant's pre-trial written communications, establishing Appellant's awareness, that her removal as Personal Representative was among the contested issues, in this matter. (R. p. 100, Lines 10-19) (R. p. 1806, Lines 8-10) This is a case which clearly sought termination of Estate administration, and termination of Appellant's fiduciary authority.

2. THE PROBATE COURT FOUND BAD FAITH INTENTIONAL BREACH BY APPELLANT OF HER FIDUCIARY DUTIES, TOGETHER WITH UNJUSTIFIED CONTINUING DEFENSES OF HER ACTIONS. THESE FINDINGS WERE NOT THE FAULT OF RESPONDENT, HER COUNSEL OR THE TRIAL JUDGE. THESE FINDINGS WERE NOT THE PRODUCT OF JUDICIAL BIAS OR THE MISAPPLICATION OF LAW.

The trial Court's May 26, 2017 email to the parties, forwarding its initial impressions, included the following:

- a. "I find in this case the P/R- wife has intentionally inhibited and delayed the closing of this estate and prolonged the division of the assets."
- b. "The Court finds the P/R to have withheld information pertinent to the beneficiaries and requested by them. In addition the P/R clearly used her position as P/R to manipulate at least one if not more assets to her advantage over her step children, the remaining 75% devisees."
- c. "Based on all the evidence and testimony, the Court finds the P/R wife and 25% beneficiary used her position to manipulate the estate assets to unjustly enrich herself at the expense of the other beneficiaries."
- d. "Under the authority of §62-1-111, §62-3-701, et seq., 719, 720, 721 and others, I find that this litigation was not beneficial for the estate, but purely the wife-beneficiary seeking to improve her lot in the estate."

Respondent notes that, to the present time, Appellant continues to assert that no judicial finding of bad faith was determined at trial. Respondent has addressed similar arguments at trial, during Appellant's post trial Motions, during Appellant's Circuit Court appeal, and now responds, on appeal, once more.

While faced with concerns that have ultimately resulted in the Trial Court's above findings, Respondent records, here, actions that she has taken, both prior to and into litigation:

e. Communicate, in writing, with the Estate, and asking the Estate to recognize and address conflicts of interest. (R. pp. 1213-1214, all lines) Appellant's continuing assertion is false, that a disagreeable Respondent insisted upon only one settlement option, an equal quarter share distribution of all properties to four (4) beneficiaries. Appellant essentially ignored Respondent's pre-litigation request that the parties mediate, but with a funds distribution which would allow stepchildren to pay for their own legal advice.

f. Wait for closing documents, as Respondent was informed the Estate would file.

g. Invite the Estate to participate in Motion hearing, where opportunity for filing and review of distribution proposals could occur.

h. Invite the Estate to participate in mediation. Regarding mediation efforts, Respondent respectfully invites review of Argument 7.c. in this brief.

i. Permit an appraisal of an Estate personal residence, following its rehabilitation. (R. p. 10, Lines 14-20)

j. Invite the Estate to respond to discovery where, prior to Trial, the Estate's valuation of a repaired residence could be examined. (R. pp. 1254-1256 [with Respondent's note,

also, that the assembled record does not include exhibits which were attached to Plaintiff's Requests, and are relevant])

Prior to trial, Appellant was provided with numerous opportunities to back away from her position that appraisal of a disrepaired personal residence could support a property distribution proposal, after Appellant had used Estate money to repair the residence. Appellant, who continues to cite Respondent as a difficult party, took no steps during more than fourteen months, to abandon a flawed valuation argument which only served her own selfish interests.

As late as October, 2016, Appellant complained, through sworn affidavit, (R. p. 1315, Lines 13-18) which was filed with the Court, about the poor physical condition of her personal residence. The residence was in repair at this time, and also in May 2016, when Appellant, at hearing, challenged the vision of Respondent's appraiser, because the appraiser had not had opportunity to inspect the residence interior. (R. p. 194, Lines 78-93)

Respondent hereby references the following portions of Court Order to address the following continuing concerns of Appellant, as cited in her appellate efforts.

k. Alleged punitive terms which are not supported. Please see Paragraph H. of the Court's March 2, 2018 Order and Paragraph I. B. 11. of the Court's November 7, 2018 Order. The trial Court made specific reference to the cases of Cartee v. Lesley, 209 S.C. 333, 350 S.E. 2d 388 (1986) and Page v. Page, 243 S.C. 312, 133 S.E. 2d 829 (1963), and also the following statutes which provide authority: S.C. Code Ann. Sections 62-1-111, 62-3-703(a), 62-3-715(20), 62-3-719, 62-3-720, 62-3-721 (a) and 62-7-804. Also supportive of the Probate Court's actions are S.C. Code Ann. Section 62-3-607 which permits restraint on Personal Representative actions and Section 62-3-713, which holds that conflicting transactions of a Personal Representative are voidable.

l. Bias and improper balance. The Probate Court extended fair courtesies to all parties, including a nearly two month delay in 2017 post trial proceedings, so as to accommodate the calendars of Appellants' two attorneys. (R. pp. 1871-1873, all lines) Appellant, in her current brief, takes no responsibility for this two month delay, complaining to his Honorable Court about five months for Respondent to produce a proposed Court Order.

The standards set forth in Aakjer vs. Spagnoli, 291 S.C. 165, 352 S.E. 2d 503 (Ct. App. 1987) and State vs. Wasson, 229 S.C. 508, 386 S.E. 2d 255 (1989) have not been demonstrated by Appellant, who again seeks new opportunities to litigate. Please see Paragraph II. of the Trial Court's November 7, 2018 Order. (R. pp. 77-78, all lines) (R. p. 79, Lines 1-3)

m. Personal Representative to bear legal expenses and the Court denying the Personal Representative's counterclaims for such fees. Please see Paragraphs I. B. 3. and 10. of the Court's November 7, 2018 Order. In addition to numerous citations about unreasonable defense efforts, please see, also, Appellant's Initial Brief to the Circuit Court at page 29, footnote 10, (R. p. 1618, lines 21-24) where Appellant asked all involved to become influenced by her team's personal recollections of informal communications which may or may not have occurred, as is reported in the brief; communications which are not part of any record.

n. Personal Representative's commission. Please see Paragraphs I. B. 4. of the Court's November 7, 2018 Order.

o. Appointment of Special Administrator. Please see Paragraph I. B. 6. of the Court's November 7, 2018 Order. During trial, the parties squarely addressed merits contained in Blackmon v. Weaver, 366 S.C. 245, 621 S.E. 2d 42 (2005), Church v. McGee, (S.C. App. 2011), Maydwell v. Maydwell, 135 Tenn 1; 185 S.W. 712 (1916) and Floyd v. Floyd, 365 S.C. 56, 615 S.E.

2d 465 (2005).

p. Awarding Plaintiff (Respondent) her attorneys fees and costs. Please see Paragraph I. B. 11. and Paragraph IV. of the Court's November 7, 2018 Order. Respondent's brothers are squarely within the intent the Common Fund Doctrine. Sullivan v. Brown, 423 S.C. 476, 816 S.E. 2d 542 (S.C. 2018). The portion of the Estate's contribution representing a share from Appellant is explained by the Court. Appellant's quarter share contribution, here, is an alternative, and much less than it could have been, given Appellant's actions in this litigation. (R. p. 81, Lines 7-23) (R. p. 82, Lines 1-7)

q. Respectfully, Respondent invites examination of the exchange between Appellant's counsel and the Trial Judge recorded on pages 93 and 94 of the June 29, 2018 hearing in this matter. Please examine, also, the first two consecutive paragraphs of Appellant's April 19, 2021 brief, page 8. Appellant may find the concept of bad faith to be elusive, but other parties, and the lower courts, understand that intentional abuse of fiduciary authority, for the fiduciary's personal financial gain, at the expense of others, is clearly out of bounds.

r. If Respondent and the lower Courts are correct, that the record of this case does not reveal an Estate Settlement Agreement, and also does not reveal any Respondent action, to withdraw from any such binding Estate Settlement Agreement, what will this Honorable Court say about the concept of good faith, while Appellant nonetheless continues to argue?

3. THE PROBATE COURT DID NOT REFORM DR. DONALD M. ROTHGEB'S WILL.

In its Order of November 7, 2018, the Horry County Probate Court addressed Appellant's concerns, raised in her Motion for Reconsideration, that Dr. Rothgeb's Will had been improperly

reformed. (R. pp. 61-65, all lines) (R. p. 66, Lines 1-4) Appellant asserts that there is no basis for Will reformation, while the trial Court declares that no reformation has occurred.

Properly, the Probate Court ruled that will reformation is not what occurs, when a Court takes authority away from a fiduciary who has substantially abused this authority.

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